In the Supreme Court of the State of California

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

JODY CHATMAN,

Defendant and Appellant.

Case No. S237374

SUPREME COURT FILED

JAN **3 1** 2017

Jorge Navarrete Clar

First Appellate District, Division One, Case No. A144196 Alameda County Superior Court, Case No. C140542 The Honorable Paul Delucchi, Judge

Deputy

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

QUESTION FOR REVIEW

Whether Penal Code section 4852.01, subdivision (b), violates the right to equal protection of former felony probationers ineligible to seek a certificate of rehabilitation due to their incarceration after the granting of a dismissal and release from disabilities under Penal Code section 1203.4.

STATEMENT

A. The Civil Disabilities Attending Felony Conviction and the Pathways to Limiting Those Disabilities

To place the issue in this case in context, we provide an overview of the civil disabilities resulting from felony conviction and the various opportunities to limit or remove those disabilities.

1. Disabilities Attending Felony Conviction

A prior felony conviction may be used to enhance a new sentence, trigger the use of an alternative recidivist sentencing scheme, or reduce eligibility for probation or diversion in a subsequent case. (See Pen. Code, §§ 667, 1170.12, 1203, subd. (e), 1210.1.)¹ These are the penal consequences of the prior conviction. Convictions for certain gang-related crimes, narcotics offenses, or sex offenses may trigger a duty to register, which is a civil, regulatory consequence of the conviction. (*People v. Castellanos* (1999) 21 Cal.4th 785, 798-799; Health & Saf. Code, § 11590; Pen. Code, §§ 290, 186.30.) The remaining post-sentence disabilities, statutorily imposed on convicted felons, are also civil in nature. They range from disqualification from jury service, to licensing restrictions and disciplinary proceedings, to witness impeachment at trial, to eligibility for in rem civil forfeiture proceedings, to restrictions on gun and ammunition possession. (*People v. Ansell* (2001) 25 Cal.4th 868, 888-889 [recognizing

¹ Further statutory references are to the Penal Code, unless otherwise noted.

that these statutes serve "vital public interests, avoid criminal punishment, and otherwise raise no ex post facto concerns"]; see also *United States v*. Ursery (1966) 518 U.S. 267, 270, 116 S.Ct. 2135, 135 L.Ed.2d 549 [no double jeopardy violation in civil property forfeiture, a remedial civil sanction, after criminal conviction]; People v. Culbert (2013) 218 Cal.App.4th 184, 194 [addressing §§ 29800 and 30350 and their antecedents]; United States v. Marks (2004) 379 F.3d 1114, 1119-1120 [federal law precludes firearm and ammunition possession by felons].) In the case of violent sex offenders, the conviction is one of several prerequisites for civil commitment as a sexually violent predator under the Sexually Violent Predators Act. (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 6600 et seq.; People v. McKee (2010) 47 Cal.4th 1172, 1202-1203; People v. Allen (2008) 44 Cal.4th 843, 860 [SVP proceedings are civil, not criminal, in nature].) A convicted felon who is not presently imprisoned or on parole is now eligible to vote (Cal. Const., art. II, § 4; Elec. Code, §§ 2150, subd. (a)(9), 2201, subd. (c)), but the other disabilities described above remain. (People v. Ansell, supra, 25 Cal.4th at pp. 872-873.)

2. Executive Clemency

The Governor's power to grant executive elemency dates to California's first Constitution. The California Constitution of 1849, article V, section 13, provided, "The Governor shall have the power to grant reprieves and pardons after conviction, for all offences except treason and cases of impeachment, upon such conditions, and with such restrictions and limitations, as he may think proper, subject to such regulations as may be provided by law relative to the manner of applying for pardons." A pardon both exempts the individual from punishment which the law inflicts for the crime committed and removes some or most of the consequent disqualifications or disabilities. (*People v. Biggs* (1937) 9 Cal.2d 508, 510.) Present article V, section 8 of the California Constitution requires four

justices of this Court to concur with a pardon or commutation to a person who has been convicted of two or more felonies, but otherwise similarly provides that "Subject to application procedures provided by statute, the Governor, on conditions the Governor deems proper, may grant a reprieve, pardon, and commutation, after sentence, except in case of impeachment."

Section 4800 et seq. provides the procedures for direct application to the Governor for clemency.

3. Successful Completion of Probation

In addition, the Legislature has established probation as a rehabilitative pathway. "The primary purpose of granting probation instead of the imposition of sentence to an incarcerating institution is to help the defendant rehabilitate himself" under the close guidance and supervision of the probation officer, with periodic "profitable and instructive sessions" at which the probationer must "reveal his activities and seek the assistance of the probation officer." (*People v. Matranga* (1969) 275 Cal.App.2d 328, 332.) Probation is neither painless for the probationer nor inexpensive for the supervising county. (*Ibid.*) Probation is both an act of clemency and grace, and a substantial investment in the probationer's long-lasting reform. Those who successfully complete probation and satisfy certain conditions may seek removal of civil disabilities under section 1203.4 as of right. (*In re Griffin* (1967) 67 Cal.2d 343, 347, fn. 3 ["On application of a defendant who meets the requirements of section 1203.4 the court not only can but must proceed in accord with that statute. [Citations.]"].)

Section 1203.4, initially enacted as Section 1203, section 4, in 1872, provides, in relevant part:

(a)(1) In any case in which a defendant has fulfilled the conditions of probation for the entire period of probation . . . the defendant shall, at any time after the termination of the period of probation, if he or she is not then serving a sentence for any offense, on probation for any offense, or charged with the

commission of any offense, be permitted by the court to withdraw his or her plea of guilty or plea of nolo contendere and enter a plea of not guilty; or, if he or she has been convicted after a plea of not guilty, the court shall thereupon dismiss the accusations or information against the defendant and except as noted below, he or she shall thereafter be released from all penalties and disabilities resulting from the offense of which he or she has been convicted. ... However, in any subsequent prosecution of the defendant for any other offense, the prior conviction may be pleaded and proved and shall have the same effect as if probation had not been granted or the accusation or information dismissed. ... The probationer shall be informed in his or her probation papers, of this right and privilege and his or her right, if any, to petition for a certificate of rehabilitation and pardon.

- (2) Dismissal of an accusation or information pursuant to this section does not permit a person to own, possess, or have in his or her custody or control any firearm or prevent his or her conviction under [certain firearm laws].
- (3) Dismissal of an accusation or information underlying a conviction pursuant to this section does not permit a person prohibited from holding public office as a result of that conviction to hold public office.

"The expunging of the record of conviction [under section 1203.4] is in essence a form of legislatively authorized certificate of complete rehabilitation based on a prescribed showing of exemplary conduct during the entire period of probation." (*People v. Chandler* (1988) 203

Cal.App.3d 782, 788-789.) "A grant of relief under section 1203.4 is intended to reward an individual who successfully completes probation by mitigating some of the consequence of his [or her] conviction and, with a few exceptions, to restore him [or her] to his [or her] former status in society to the extent the Legislature has power to do so." (*People v. Mgebrov* (2008) 166 Cal.App.4th 579, 581; *People v. Field* (1995) 31

Cal.App.4th 1778, 1787, internal quotations omitted.)

Dismissal and release under section 1203.4 thus provides a palpable benefit, but not a complete expungement of the criminal conviction. (People v. Frawley (2000) 82 Cal. App. 4th 784, 791.) The benefits conferred by grant of relief under section 1203.4 include the right to "truthfully represent to friends, acquaintances and private sector employers that he [or she] has no conviction" (People v. Acuna (2000) 77 Cal. App. 4th 1056, 1060); the right not to volunteer information about the prior conviction unless directly asked when applying for certain public offices or licenses, or contracting with the state lottery; the right to apply for certain employment otherwise unavailable to convicted felons; and it confers eligibility to apply for a certificate of rehabilitation and release at the earliest possible time. (People v. Arata (2007) 151 Cal. App. 4th 778, 788; §§ 4852.01, subd. (b), 4852.03, subd. (a)(3).) The statute lists, and judicial opinions have clarified, exceptions to the penalties and disabilities from which the defendant is released: he remains subject to impeachment as a felon; may not possess firearms or ammunition; and may not hold any license or public office that is specifically precluded by the conviction, such as becoming licensed as an attorney, physician, seller of alcoholic beverages, or becoming a peace officer. (§ 1203.4, subd. (a); People v. Guillen (2013) 218 Cal. App. 4th 975, 996-997; Doe v. California Dept. of Justice (2009) 173 Cal. App. 4th 1095; Krain v. Medical Board (1999) 71 Cal.App.4th 1416, 1419-1420.) Section 290.007 precludes release from sexual offender registration.

Accepting the privilege of probation and exercising the right to dismissal upon successful completion of probation comes with a risk. If the successful probationer is later confined in a jail or prison, that is, if the lasting rehabilitation fails, he or she becomes ineligible to later apply for the certificate of rehabilitation described below. Probationers are made aware of that risk when placed on probation. (§ 1203.4, subd. (a)(1) ["The

probationer shall be informed, in his or her probation papers, of this right and privilege and his or her right, if any, to petition for a certificate of rehabilitation and pardon."]; see also § 4852.21.)

4. Certificate of Rehabilitation

Felons who were placed on probation and had their charging documents dismissed per section 1203.4, and succeeded in avoiding subsequent incarceration, as well as those felons who were incarcerated and therefore never had an opportunity to establish their reformation, may apply for a certificate of rehabilitation and pardon under section 4852.01.² That provision was enacted in 1943 to streamline the process for California exfelons to apply for a pardon to be eligible to serve in the military and work in defense industries:

During World War II the Governor's office was inundated with pardon applications received from ex-felons who were otherwise barred from serving in the military and working in defense industries. (See Requirement for Rehabilitation Certificate, supra, 65 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 232, 233-234; Mosk, Certificates of Rehabilitation and the New Pardon Procedure (1943) 18 State Bar J. 172, 173-175.) Enacted as an urgency measure in 1943, the certificate of rehabilitation scheme eased the administrative burden on the executive branch by allowing the superior court to investigate and recommend pardon applicants. (Stats.1943, ch. 400, § 1, p. 1922, eff. May 13, 1943.)

(*Id.* at pp. 874-875.) A certificate of rehabilitation provides an "additional, but not exclusive procedure for restoration of rights and application for pardon." (§ 4852.19.) The certificate procedure does not replace the direct application to the Governor for clemency. It engages the superior court, the

² After appellant's petition in the superior court for a certificate was denied, the Legislature amended the statutes relating to the procedure for restoration of rights, in ways not relevant to the issue presented. (See Stats. 2015, ch. 378, eff. Jan. 1, 2016.) Like the Court of Appeal, we cite the current version of the statutes. (See Typed Opn. at p. 5, fn. 2.)

investigative agencies, and the rehabilitative agencies, such as the probation department, in an expedited, yet detailed and thorough, vetting for clemency applications, involving documentary evidence and often live testimony; the issuance of a certificate itself restores some of the civil disabilities attendant to felony conviction. (§§ 4852.04, 4852.07, 4852.1, 4852.12, 4852.15, 4852.17.)

Section 4852.01, subdivision (b), makes former felony probationers certificate-eligible when "the accusatory pleading [on their original offense] has been dismissed pursuant to Section 1203.4 . . . if the petitioner has not been incarcerated in a prison, jail, detention facility, or other penal institution or agency since the dismissal of the accusatory pleading, is not on probation for the commission of any other felony, and the petitioner presents satisfactory evidence of five years' residence in this state prior to the filing of the petition." The preclusion of subsequently incarcerated felony probationers has been a part of the statute since it was enacted in 1943. (Stats. 1943, c. 400, p. 1922, § 1, eff. May 13, 1943.)

If a felon meets those criteria, he or she must further demonstrate to the superior court a sustained period of rehabilitation. A certificate is available only to convicted felons who have successfully completed their sentence, supervision, probation, or parole, and who have undergone an additional and sustained period of rehabilitation, generally seven to ten years, in California during which the person must display good moral character and behave in an honest, industrious and law-abiding manner. (*People v. Ansell, supra*, 25 Cal.4th at p. 875; see §§ 4852.01, subds. (a)-(c), 4852.03, subd. (a) [five year base period to which two to five additional years are added, depending on the underlying offense], 4852.05 ["the person shall live an honest and upright life, shall conduct himself or herself with sobriety and industry, shall exhibit a good moral character, and shall conform to and obey the laws of the land"], 4852.06 [petitioner must meet

the standards of section 4852.05 for the seven- to ten-year period, including five years in California immediately preceding the application].) Any violation of law, satisfactorily proved, permits denial of the certificate and may start the clock over again on a new period of rehabilitation. (§ 4852.11.) "To enter an order known as a certificate of rehabilitation, the superior court must find that the petitioner is both rehabilitated and fit to exercise the rights and privileges lost by reason of his conviction." (*Id.* at pp. 875-876; § 4852.13, subd. (a).)

A section 4852.01 certificate of rehabilitation, when granted by the superior court, renders the former offender eligible to apply for certain additional licenses (see Bus. & Prof. Code, § 480; Educ. Code, §§ 4408, 8708; Lab. Code, § 26) and also serves as a judicially approved, thoroughly vetted, expedited application to the Governor for pardon.³

B. Trial Court Proceedings

In 2001, appellant was convicted of robbery (§ 211) and placed on felony probation with a 180-day term in jail. (CT 147.) Almost two years later, he was convicted of alcohol-related reckless driving in violation of Vehicle Code section 23103. (CT 179.) The court eventually granted him release from penalties and disabilities pursuant to section 1203.4, with the reckless driving conviction dismissed in 2006, and the robbery conviction dismissed in 2007. (CT 170, 179.) Later, in 2008, appellant pleaded guilty to driving under the influence in violation of Vehicle Code section 23152, subdivision (b) and was granted three years' probation with a 10-day jail term. (CT 179.) The latter conviction was never dismissed.

³ There are additional pathways to reduction of the impact of prior convictions not at issue here. (See, e.g., §§ 17, 1170.18 [pathways for reducing felonies to misdemeanors].)

In 2014, appellant filed a petition for a certificate of rehabilitation under section 4852.01, acknowledging that he was not eligible under the terms of the statute, but seeking relief on equal protection grounds. The Court of Appeal characterized the petition as appellant's attempt to avail himself of a statutory exemption from ineligibility in order to work as an administrator of a group home for foster and delinquent youth. (Typed Opn. at p. 2; see Health & Saf. Code, § 1522, subds. (a), (d), (g)(1)(A)(ii).) In 2015, the superior court denied the petition, relying primarily on *People v. Jones* (1985) 176 Cal.App.3d 120 [former felony probationers ineligible for a certificate of rehabilitation due to subsequent incarceration are not similarly situated with former state prisoners, who had not previously benefitted from dismissal of charges, a probation order tailored to their rehabilitative needs and a period of supervised compliance; and a rational basis exists for any distinction in treatment between the two classes].) (Typed Opn. at pp. 1-2.)

C. The Court of Appeal's Ruling

In the Court of Appeal, appellant argued that section 4852.01 violates equal protection by excluding subsequently incarcerated probationers but not subsequently incarcerated prisoners. The Court of Appeal agreed and reversed, remanding with directions to consider the merits of appellant's petition. (Typed Opn. at p. 12.) Observing that section 4852.01, subdivision (b) "grants certificate eligibility to felons who have completed a prison sentence (former felony prisoners) and are subsequently incarcerated," and that "it might make sense to deny certificate eligibility to all subsequently incarcerated former felons," it could discern "no rationale to deny certificate eligibility only to those who have served sentences of probation." (*Id.* at p. 1.) "[F]ormer felony prisoners may petition for a certificate of rehabilitation, with no requirement that they remain free from

incarceration after the completion of their state-prison sentence (or sentence to county jail under section 1170, subdivision (h))." (*Id.* at p. 5.)

Indicating its analysis would be the same under either the federal or the state equal protection clauses (Typed Opn. at p. 5, fn. 3), the court found unpersuasive the conclusion of the court in *Jones*, *supra*, 176 Cal.App.3d 120, "that former probationers do not have the same status and, therefore, are not similarly situated with former state prisoners (and those discharged from parole) *for purposes of applying section 1203.4.*" (Typed Opn. at p. 7, quoting *Jones*, at p. 128, italics in *Chatman*.) While criticizing the *Jones* opinion for finding former felony probationers and former felony prisoners dissimilarly situated, the court below also characterized *Jones* as failing to articulate a rational basis for the differing treatment of the two groups, and as circularly examining "the purpose of section 1203.4 and its relation with section 4852.01." (Typed Opn. at pp. 7-9, quoting *Jones*, at p. 128.).

In contrast with *Jones*, the Court of Appeal reasoned that "[b]oth groups are convicted felons seeking certificates of rehabilitation to reduce the disabilities that resulted from their prior convictions" and, hence, are similarly situated for purposes of section 4852.01. (Typed Opn. at p. 9.) Invoking by analogy *Newland v. Board of Governors* (1977) 19 Cal.3d 705, where this court found no rational basis to permit felons, but not misdemeanants, to seek a certificate of rehabilitation under section 4852.01, the Court of Appeal concluded the legislative classification between former felony probationers and former felony prisoners leads to the "same perverse effects . . . at play here." (Typed Opn. at p. 11.) The court explained: "A subsequently incarcerated felon is eligible for a certificate of rehabilitation if he or she originally served a sentence of imprisonment and meets other requirements. (§ 4852.01, subd. (a).) But a subsequently incarcerated felon is ineligible for a such a certificate if he or she was originally sentenced to

probation, successfully completed it, and obtained a dismissal under section 1203.4. (§ 4852.01, subd. (b).) We discern no rational justification for this different treatment." (*Ibid.*)

This Court granted the People's petition for review.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

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