IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

VS.

JODY CHATMAN,

Defendant and Appellant.

No. S237374

First Appellate District, Division One, No. A144196

Alameda County Superior Court, No. 140542

The Honorable Judge Paul DeLucchi

SUPREME COURT FILED

MAR 3 0 2017

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

David Reagan, SBN 275192 725 Washington Street, Suite 200 Oakland, CA 94607

Tel: (510) 506-9061 Fax: (510) 259-9739

Email: dtreagan@gmail.com

Attorney for Appellant JODY CHATMAN

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

the court to appoint the district attorney to investigate the petitioner's residency, the petitioner's conduct during rehabilitation, and the petitioner's representations in the petition. (§ 4852.12.) None of these substantial vetting procedures – or strict requirements – are present in a dismissal proceeding. (See § 1203.4.)

The proceedings in this case evidence the summary nature of dismissal. The dismissal hearing was not reported and defendant and district attorney were not present. (C.T. p. 172.) No support letters or declarations were attached to the petition. (C.T. p. 169.) Indeed, counties handle hundreds, if not thousands, of dismissal hearings a month.

Respondent's claim that a dismissal proceeding is a "close vetting" akin to a certificate of rehabilitation proceeding is inaccurate. (O.B.M. p. 17.)

What is more, a petition to dismiss is not a substantial expenditure of resources – at least not an expenditure comparable to that on a certificate.

Section 1203.4 contains no provision for the appointment of counsel, assistance of the adult probation office, or assistance of the Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation (§§ 4852.04, 4852.08, 4852.09); no requirement for the production, at no expense to the petitioner, of all written reports from the probation department, police department, and place of incarceration (§ 4852.11); and no provisions for the court's appointment of the district attorney to investigate the petitioner and provide a report. (§

4852.12.) In dismissal proceedings, counties may require the applicant to pay a \$150 fee to reimburse the county for the expenses of the hearing, but in a certificate proceeding "[n]o filing fee nor court fees of any kind shall be required of a petitioner." (§ 1203.4, subd. (d); § 4852.09.) Respondent's claim that dismissal is a substantial investment of resources, the rejection of which renders a person dissimilar, is incongruent with the reality of how dismissal proceedings are conducted. (O.B.M. p. 16.)

Respondent's argument also ignores the substantial resources dedicated to re-incarcerating former prisoners, who nonetheless remain eligible to apply for a certificate of rehabilitation. As previously explained, the costs dedicated to state a state prisoner-parolee far exceed those for a probationer. As such, through numerous instances of incarceration post-release, former prisoners have rejected the substantial resources provided in their subsequent proceedings, likely including probation and even possibly dismissal. The conclusion of respondent's analysis is that persons incarcerated for one day post-dismissal are dissimilar because they have rejected court resources put towards their reform, but this does not hold sway where it is former prisoners who have rejected substantially more court resources directed towards their reform.

Finally, even if respondent's argument that former prisoners who apply for a certification of rehabilitation are for the first time being afforded

close vetting and government resources sets them apart from former probationers, the argument only holds true for a former prisoner who applies for a certificate once. Section 4852.01 allows a former prisoner who petitions for but is denied a certificate of rehabilitation to apply again; the court can set a new rehabilitation period in certain circumstances, but there is no limit to how many times the former prisoner can reapply. (See §§ 4852.01, 4852.03, 4852.05, 4852.11, 4852.13.)

3. Dismissal Is Primarily a Reward for Successful Completion of Probation, Not a Lasting Promise of Reform

Respondent next argues that a petition to dismiss under section 1203.4 is a lasting promise of reform, the breaking of which, petitioners have been warned, "disproves rehabilitation." (O.B.M. pp. 15-16.) This argument should be rejected because there is no authority that dismissal is a lasting promise of reform, and there is no warning to probationers that subsequent incarceration will result in permanent deprivation of a certificate.

According to respondent, after dismissal probationers "have been given a fresh start, with the warning that all the benefits will be undone if they fail to maintain that reform." (O.B.M. pp. 15-16.) Dismissal is hardly a "fresh start." (See *People v. Frawley* (2000) 82 Cal.App.4th 784, 791 [limitations on relief "are numerous and substantial"].) What is more,

petitioners are not warned that the benefits will be undone if they fail to maintain reform. While it is true that section 4852.21 requires the clerk to inform defendants in writing, prior to dismissal, of the availability and procedure for a certificate of rehabilitation, this information does not contain a warning of ineligibility for a certificate with subsequent incarceration. (See also § 1203.4, subd. (a)(1).) Here, the record of the dismissal proceeding shows that appellant was *not* notified of the availability of a certificate, much less the dangers of subsequent incarceration. (C.T. pp. 169-174.) Notably, the current Judicial Council forms (CR-180, CR-181 [Rev. January 1, 2017]), which are the only documents filed in court for most dismissal proceedings, do *not* provide notice of the availability of a certificate of rehabilitation, and, likewise, any repercussions from subsequent incarceration.

Respondent also contends that dismissal is a lasting promise of reform. (O.B.M. pp. 15-16.) While lasting reform is certainly desirable, section 1203.4 is primarily a backwards-looking statute that rewards successful completion of probation. The petition forms (CR-180, CR-181 [Rev. January 1, 2017]) require no promise of lasting reform, and make no such announcements upon dismissal being granted. As noted previously, in the majority of cases dismissal must be granted as of right if the petitioner completed the terms of probation and is not serving a sentence or facing

new charges. (*People v. Chandler* (1988) 203 Cal.App.3d 782, 788; § 1203.4, subd. (a).) This means that even if a person is re-incarcerated after successful completion of probation, they are entitled to dismissal once released from probation on the new case.

What is more, all the benefits of a dismissal are not "undone," as respondent asserts, with subsequent incarceration. (O.B.M. p. 16.) Under the statute, the limited release from disabilities that the dismissal statute grants are valid for life, even if the person is incarcerated after dismissal. (§1203.4.) For instance, if a person obtains a dismissal and is thereafter convicted of a new crime, the person must disclose the new conviction on a private employment application, but not the old, dismissed crime. (See generally §1203.4; *People v. Acuna* (2000) 77 Cal.App.4th 1056, 1060.) Finally, even if a person is incarcerated after dismissal, there is nothing stopping them from obtaining dismissal of the subsequent conviction, or any prior convictions that had not been previously dismissed. (§1203.4.)

Considering the above-noted aspects of the statute, the flaw in respondent's argument is evident. Dismissal is not a strict and lasting promise of reform because the statute neither invalidates the dismissal with subsequent incarceration nor limits the ability to obtain dismissal for other convictions if the person is incarcerated after a dismissal. Rather, dismissal

is primarily a reward for completing the terms of probation, or, sometimes, an exercise of discretion in the interests of justice. (§1203.4, subd. (a)(1).)

4. The Premise of Respondent's Argument is Irrational

The ultimate premise of respondent's argument is that former felony probationers who are incarcerated after dismissal have, "in fact . . . disproved rehabilitation," but former felony prisoners who are incarcerated after release from prison have not. (O.B.M. p. 16.) To a certain degree, respondent veers into rational basis territory; nonetheless, the argument fails in the similarly situated context. There are undoubtedly endless permutations of circumstances that discredit respondent's theory. But one clear example would be a former prisoner who is incarcerated for serious crimes numerous times after his release compared to a former felony probationer who is incarcerated once for a few days on a minor offense subsequent to a section 1203.4 dismissal. In this instance, the former felony prisoner has disproved rehabilitation to a much greater degree than the former probationer, yet the former prisoner is eligible for a certificate of rehabilitation while the former probationer is not. This Court should reject respondent's argument.

C. Felons Sentenced to County Prison Are Able to Obtain the Functional Equivalent of a Dismissal Under Section 1203.4, be Subsequently Incarcerated, Yet Remain Eligible For a Certificate of Rehabilitation

Respondent's similarly situated argument fails when confronted with the recently amended provisions of section 4852.01 applicable to felons who serve a term of imprisonment in the county jail under realignment.

Like felony probationers, these realignment felons can obtain dismissal after supervised release. But unlike probationers, they remain eligible for a certificate of rehabilitation even with post-dismissal incarceration. The provisions in section 4852.01 addressing county prisoners (which are the same provisions as those applicable to former prisoners) were not addressed in the Court of Appeal because the amendment was not effective until 2016. (§ 4852.01, subd. (a), as amended by Stats. 2015, ch. 378 § 6 (AB 1156).)

Under realignment, persons convicted of felonies, the punishment for which is an unspecified term of imprisonment, shall be imprisoned in the county jail for a term of 16 months, 2 years, or 3 years (with certain exceptions for more serious offenses). (§ 1170, subds. (h)(1), (h)(3).) After the term of incarceration is completed, the court is generally required to order a term of mandatory supervision. (§ 1170, subds. (h)(5)(A)-(B).) While on mandatory supervision, the defendant is supervised by county probation "in accordance with the terms, conditions, and procedures generally applicable to persons placed on probation." (§ 1170, subds. (h)(5)(A)-(B).) Once one year or two years have passed since completion of

the sentence – depending on the sentence imposed – the offender can apply for a dismissal. (§1203.41, subd. (a)(2).) Section 1203.41 provides virtually the same procedure as §1203.4: withdrawal of the guilty plea, dismissal of the accusation or information, and release from disabilities. (§ 1203.41, subd. (a)(1).) Relief is granted in the interests of justice within the court's discretion. (§ 1203.41, subd. (a).) Like the eligibility provisions to a certificate of rehabilitation for former prisoners, incarceration does not result in a lifetime bar, regardless of whether or how many times the person is incarcerated following the dismissal. (§ 4852.01, subd. (a).)

The unlimited eligibility of felons who are imprisoned in the county jail is fatal to respondent's similarly situated argument. Former county prisoners have all the characteristics that respondent claims set former felony probationers apart from former felony prisoners: felony probationers and felons sentenced to county jail under realignment both have "received an opportunity, through the close guidance and resource-intensive supervision and support of the probation officer, applying conditions tailored to the probationer's particular needs" and utilized nearly identical dismissal procedures. (O.B.M. p. 15.) As such, respondent's argument about how a tailored probation sentence and dismissal differentiates former probationers from former prisoners cannot provide a basis for finding the two groups are not similarly situated.

However, if this Court does accept respondent's argument and finds that former felony probationers and former felony prisoners are not similarly situated, appellant asserts in the alternative that he is similarly situated to former felony offenders who were sentenced to county jail under realignment and that the disparate treatment by section 4852.01 (with regard to post-dismissal incarceration ineligibility) denies him equal protection under the state and federal constitutions. (Cal. Const., art. I, § 7; U.S. Const., 14th Amend; see also Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.516.)

IV. No Rational Basis Exists for Section 4852.01's Disparate Treatment of Former Felony Probationers and Former Felony Prisoners

Felons sentenced to prison can serve an indefinite amount of time incarcerated and still be eligible for a certificate of rehabilitation, whereas one day of incarceration post-dismissal renders a former probationer ineligible for life. Respondent contends that this disparate treatment is rational because it promotes rehabilitation for former probationers who have obtained dismissal, encouraging them to reform once and for all. (O.B.M. p. 20.) Respondent also argues that the eligibility bar conserves judicial resources by reserving eligibility proceedings only for those felons who are likely to be able to demonstrate rehabilitation. (O.B.M. p. 20.) These arguments lack a rational basis, and should be rejected.

First, if the goal of the statute is to encourage lifetime reform, it is irrational to *remove* the primary motivation for lifetime reform (the granting of a certificate of rehabilitation) because of only one day of incarceration. What is more, there is no rational basis to encourage *only* felony probationers – those convicted of less serious offenses – to reform once and for all, but not former prisoners who pose a greater risk of danger to society.

Second, the eligibility bar does not conserve judicial resources.

Respondent's argument is essentially that the eligibility bar acts to filter out unworthy certificate of rehabilitation candidates. As explained above, there are countless scenarios that disprove respondent's argument. In short, the rule allows former felony prisoners who repeatedly commit serious offenses following release from prison to remain eligible for a certificate of rehabilitation while barring former felony probationers with only one minor offense subsequent to a section 1203.4 dismissal. No such rule can rationally be characterized as a mechanism to conserve judicial resources.

A. Section 4852.01's Eligibility Bar is not a Reasonable Way to Motivate Lifelong Rehabilitation, nor is it Reasonable to Impose the Eligibility Bar as a Means of Motivating Former Probationers but not Former Prisoners to Rehabilitate

Respondent argues that probation, dismissal, and the eligibility bar "[a]re integral parts of the Legislature's incentive plan to encourage

complete, lifelong rehabilitation via the probation system." (O.B.M. p. 28.) Respondent's argument has two main flaws. First, the eligibility bar is more likely to discourage lifetime reform than encourage it – the bar removes the primary motivation for lifetime reform. Second, accepting that applying the bar is a reasonable motivation tool, its application is not rational because it encourages *only* former probationers to rehabilitate for life, not former prisoners who are equally, if not more, in need of motivation for reform.

Respondent assumes that the "stick" – permanently depriving former probationers of the opportunity to apply for a certificate of rehabilitation – is a rational way to encourage lifetime reform. (O.B.M. p. 28.) It is correct that the judicial restoration of lost civil rights and the automatic recommendation to the Governor for a pardon make a certificate of rehabilitation one of the primary motivators for reform. But the eligibility bar, which takes away the opportunity for relief after just one brief relapse, is not a rational way of encouraging rehabilitation because it removes the motivation for lifetime reform. The principle that reform should be encouraged for life, despite problematic interludes along the way, is readily demonstrated by the certificate statute and related rehabilitative laws.

Apart from the eligibility bar, section 4852.01 accepts that at some point the petitioner's behavior was lacking and allows an avenue for relief. If the court receives satisfactory proof that the petitioner has violated any

laws during the rehabilitation period, the court "may" deny the petition and determine a new period of rehabilitation, "not to exceed the original period of rehabilitation for the same crime." (§ 4852.11.) In *People v. Zeigler* (2012) 211 Cal.App.4th 638, 666, the court explained,

[T]he permissive language in section 4852.11 gave the court the discretion to determine the effect of defendant's new offense on the petition: it could deny the petition and determine a new period of rehabilitation or grant the petition in spite of the new offense.

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